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In memory of my great friend Henry “Jerry” MacDonald, whose insistence, dedication, and support was mainly responsible for the creation of this book. The stories told on a golf cart, and on many other sojourns, seemed to buffer his pain and allowed many laughs along the way.

To Barbara, whose indefatigable love and dedication shone through in the midst of the burdens of Canadian farm life; love of her children; and the angst of many perilous journeys in the back seat of a screaming Mitsubishi plane at 29,000 feet over a stormy Caribbean.

And to my children—David, Dianna, Rebecca, and Aaron—who all shared the highs and lows of a rigorous racing life at various times of their lives and managed to grow into wonderful and responsible human beings.


“In 2016, the approximate value of the billions of underground transactions around the world is close to $12 trillion …”
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FOREWORD
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I have known Dave Stevenson since 1980, when he changed the tempo of the Thoroughbred industry in Saratoga Springs by utilizing the famed Oklahoma Training Track for several months outside of the annual summer race meeting. Before his innovation, marked by an innate sixth sense that guided him through a career of making such moves, the track was used only during the short summer racing season. Stevenson’s advocacy of Saratoga Springs as an off-season center for training racehorses ushered in a period of sustained investment in the small historic city that continues to pay substantial dividends. It was but one example of Stevenson’s skill in recognizing the potential gains to be made by broadening the relationship network of tracks, communities, breeding farms, betting parlors, and entertainment venues.

His remarkable career, which includes life-threatening encounters with criminals, could only have happened, in the opinion of this writer, in the world of Thoroughbred racing. Stevenson’s life experience ranged from jobs with no pay in the darkest of conditions, to executive positions with major league racing organizations that enabled him to conceive and promote racing events of world class importance. His inner drive, guided by a self-confidence honed by numerous tests of survival, enabled him to move forward in a business marked by intense competition on a daily basis.

He managed, despite a brief career in the irons, to win the Queen’s Plate, the most important race in Canada, aboard Canadian Champ at Woodbine in 1956. This was accomplished despite a long-standing and increasingly bitter feud between Stevenson and Canadian Champ’s trainer. Disagreement among trainer, jockey, and horse is a recipe for failure in the Thoroughbred game.

With respect to Canada and the United States, while a racing official for the Ontario Jockey Club, Stevenson worked with political leaders to eliminate an onerous import/export tax, with the goal of improving the quality of racing at Woodbine. The result, like that of the aforementioned Oklahoma Training Track, continues to help the industry on both sides of the border.

When Secretariat, the Triple Crown winner of 1973 and considered by some as America’s greatest horse since Man o’ War, was nearing the end of his career, Stevenson again produced a terrific idea for racing. He envisioned Secretariat racing at Woodbine in the Canadian International in order to elevate that race in importance. In race track parlance, the idea of Secretariat racing in Canada had no shot.

But we are talking here about Stevenson latching on to an idea and not letting go. He discussed the idea with Secretariat’s owner Penny Tweedy (Penny Chenery at that time) and his trainer, Lucien Laurin, who just happened to be a Canadian. Secretariat came to Woodbine, put on a phenomenal show under adverse conditions, and put the Canadian International on a path to a succession of participation by top class horses.

Racing in unlike other sports in many ways, and the life of Dave Stevenson is a prime example. Every fan of the Thoroughbred sport will appreciate this story.

Michael Veitch has covered Thoroughbred racing as a turf writer since 1979. He is the author of two books on the history of racing in his native Saratoga Springs, a member of that city’s History Hall of Fame, a trustee of the National Museum of Racing, and a nominating committee member of that institution’s Hall of Fame as well as the Canadian Horse Racing Hall of Fame, Thoroughbred division.
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INTRODUCTION
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Miami Lakes, Florida, 1991

Collecting money is the bane of nearly all businesses, but when you deal with questionable characters from mostly third-world countries that trade in multiple currencies and the underground economy, collecting can be a real bitch. My business was simulcast horse racing and offshore betting—specifically with wagers placed on American transmitted horse races throughout the Caribbean, a territory covering 1.63 million square miles, including parts of Central and South America. My company offered an arsenal of signals from various tracks around the United States. I created the system of offshore simulcast racing, pioneered it actually; and for a while I was the only source to make it available. We didn’t just sell signals; we brought years of expertise to the trade that could only be learned about racing from the inside out. But more on that later.

For years, I tried to work on alternate ways to get our money out of the various countries we provided service to without having to fly there and collect it myself. I never came up with a better or more reliable solution. They couldn’t wire it. There were no foreign transfers allowed on U.S. currency earned from simulcasts or anything else. Perhaps I could have hired someone to be a money courier, but, given the large dollar amounts I collected on a monthly basis, I didn’t have anyone I could trust with our cash. Besides, my clients weren’t exactly white-hat-wearing good guys. I once had a client, Cecil Charlton, the Mayor of Mandeville, Jamaica, ask if he could fax me his check. At the time, fax machines were new, especially in third-world countries, so he didn’t understand it didn’t work that way. We were dealing in six different currencies, and, in a way, our business was primitive, and so were many of the people we were dealing with. The only logical solution to our money collection problem was for me to fly to each territory and collect it myself.

From the day I started working in simulcast racing, I was never hesitant to involve my kids in the family business. In fact, aside from my wife, Barbara, my children were the only people I knew, without a doubt, I could trust. My daughters, Rebecca and Dianna, ran the office. My son, Aaron, a financial consultant for a large bank, counseled us on money management. Barbara and I made perfect partners; she was more than willing to accompany me on my professional endeavors, enjoying royal gatherings as well as enduring the depths of uncertainty that came with the territory we covered.

I owned twelve planes over the years, but my favorite by far was the pressurized MU2-10, an upgraded, multiengine, jet-powered aircraft fully equipped with 1,000 horsepower on each side. The MU2-10, or “Mits” as I liked to call it, is very complicated to fly but ideal for the frequent trips I made to the Caribbean. I also had to make domestic trips to more than two-dozen states to meet and consult with our host racetracks. Fellow pilots and controllers referred to the Mits in communications as the “rice rocket.” Flying over mountainous terrain and thousands of miles of ocean—say nothing of dealing with rapidly changing weather patterns—posed lots of challenges, but none that this jet couldn’t handle. It was able to land on short 2,400-foot runways, fly nonstop for over 1,200 miles at 30,000 feet, and comfortably cruise at over 300 knots. It topped any other million-dollar aircraft in the air. It’s very much a pilot’s airplane with no room for error. These trips took a lot of planning and preparation, especially ones involving complex routes to avoid uncertain weather, heavy air traffic, and unnecessary security risks.

I usually filed my flight plans out of FXE, the Executive Airport in Fort Lauderdale, Florida, which served as our home base. This time I wanted to make a quick stop in St. Croix for fuel before heading on to Trinidad, where I was due to meet with clients and pick up our monthly receivables. My son Aaron had made these trips with me dozens of times. In his younger days, he was a badass brawler who loved going into bars and picking fights. He was a real son of a bitch but was always an asset, especially when it came to collecting what we were owed and delivering decoder boxes (programmed to allow the reception of racing signals off of the satellites). I’m not saying Aaron ever had to get physical with anyone, but it was sure nice to know he was there just in case. Aaron wasn’t a big guy, but he had a certain presence and was very aggressive when he needed to be. He was a street fighter by nature. On one trip, he even saved Patrick Troutman, the simulcast coordinator for Churchill Downs, from drowning off of Buck Island in the U.S. Virgin Islands.

On this particular trip, however, my daughter Rebecca was going with me. She wanted to meet the people on the other end of the phone with whom she dealt on a regular basis. As the president of our company, she hoped to foster a better rapport with clients by meeting them in person. Although Rebecca weighed ninety-five pounds and stood only slightly more than five feet tall, everyone she talked to throughout our regional client base imagined her to be six-foot-two. Rebecca’s primary responsibilities in the company included accounting, so, naturally, she was the money handler. She may be short in stature, but she is tough as nails, especially when it came to collecting the tracks and our share. She is famously remembered by her friends for jumping on a bouncer’s back to keep him off of Aaron after he had decked a smart aleck for insulting his sisters. At S&A, the name of our family business (which stands for Stevenson and Associates), she took her job extremely seriously, and, as a result, our clients really respected her. If they had only known her actual size, I’m sure our losses would have been far greater. Thankfully, she is unafraid to ask for what she wants, and she doesn’t take crap from anyone.

Three hours and forty minutes after taking off from Miami, Rebecca and I touched down in St. Croix. My sister, Ginny, and her husband, Larry, owned and operated St. Croix Marine and Caribbean Sea Adventures, an exotic scuba-dive shop, which at the time had the largest railroad haul-out for boats in the islands and the only full-service boatyard in the Caribbean.

We taxied into Bill Bohlke’s FBO in St. Croix, and while the airplane was being refueled and serviced for a quick turnaround, I met with some local horsemen who raced at Doc Randall Park on the island. They had hired me to consult on the purchase of some Thoroughbreds they were interested in. Over the years, I had successfully sold about two hundred head of horses in the islands, so my opinion and services were in demand. Normally, I would have stayed the night to visit with Ginny and Larry, but Rebecca and I had business to do on a few islands en route to our final destination. We also had about a dozen new decoder boxes to deliver to customers. Rebecca had files of data detailing who owed us money and in what amount. The files also noted any discrepancies or other matters to be discussed with various clients and governments along the way. The numbers Rebecca held were the figures we operated by and the sums we were there to collect. We weren’t open to negotiation regarding unpaid bills. Overdue accounts lost signal service.

Our “clients” included anyone with a betting shop, whether it was a local bodega in a city, town, or village; an office operation; or just a lone receiver strung up in a tree somewhere in the jungle next to an old tube television set powered by a single outlet and a hundred-foot extension cord. The poorer districts we dealt in were higher security risks. They had a tendency to invite more violence, especially when losses were reported or counterfeit hundred-dollar bills were used for payment—a common attempt by many overdue clients. Most of our customers were bookmakers who allowed their clientele to bet on credit, while others were small, local racecourses that took our signals to air at their location. We liked to deal with the tracks separately, because they were pari-mutuel (a form of betting in which those backing the first three places divide the losers’ stakes, less the operator’s commission) and therefore had a different mentality than the others who leased our signals. We also dealt with the national government agencies over local laws every bit as much as did the local businessman trying to make a buck—or whatever currency he was dealing in.

When we first started doing business in Trinidad, using American currency was illegal on the street. You couldn’t have it, bank it, or transfer it. You had to deal in what was referred to as “TT”—Trinidad and Tobago dollars. To operate, I would have to meet with the Minister of Tourism or the Prime Minister, so they were aware of what type of business we conducted and why we were there. What we were doing wasn’t illegal. However, the transferring of American currency was—unless you were an American. Since I could possess American currency, I made my clients pay me in U.S. dollars as often as possible. That softened my losses and enabled me to move the money off of the black market. In Trinidad, we had ten or fifteen outlets, ranging in size from large to small, that were all owned by independent proprietors from a vast array of backgrounds. Some people weren’t into racing, but they understood the money to be made in wagering. Trinidadians are some of the most brilliant gaming and gambling handicappers I‘ve ever dealt with throughout all my years in the business. They studied the racing forms like they read their Bibles. They grew up with racing when England colonized the island. Wherever the English went, cricket, soccer, and all-things-English followed, and the local people soon became invested. Horse racing was no exception.

What was unusual about this particular visit to Trinidad was that we had agreed to meet a dozen people, eleven men and one woman, to collect our money—together. I was completely unaware that they called the meeting in an attempt to barter collectively for better rates from us. Signal pricing was based on which tracks the customers wanted to receive. A premium track, say, any of those associated with NYRA (New York Racing Association), demanded a premium fee. A smaller track, one that operated seasonally in an outlying area, cost less. The decoder boxes we provided could be programmed to receive multiple signals from as many tracks as the customer had purchased. The more business the client did, the better price they could ask for and generally get. This didn’t sit well with the clients who couldn’t compete. By asking to meet us all together, in their own way, they were trying to unionize their stake in our gaming business.

Even though they were operating independently of one another, they were fiercely competitive, especially in downtown Port of Spain. They weren’t buddies, and by no means were they friendly in their pursuits. The wagering wasn’t illegal, and the money made and moved wasn’t considered to be a part of the $14 trillion worldwide underground or what is commonly referred to as the “subterranean economy.” Sure, it was fringy—I assume most, if not all, of the bookies neglected to declare what they earned or handled on a daily basis, but I was always aboveboard and accounted for every dollar—in all six currencies in which I was dealing. I thought I knew every customs agent from Fort Lauderdale to New York City. When I showed up carrying brown paper bags filled with money, they’d say, “Oh, it’s just Dave. Let’s get counting.”

On this particular day, when I was traveling with Rebecca, we were twenty miles out of Piarco International Airport when we received our clearance down to 3,500 feet. The Mits fell like a stone as I eased the condition levers full forward, pulled the power levers back to just above idle, and set up for the letdown to runway 10. Once we were on the ground, the Mits screamed over to the number 12 parking ramp. Upon shutdown, I popped open the door. Rebecca was stirring from her nap on the plush gray leather bench. When she realized we were in Trinidad, she sat bolt upright and gathered her purse and briefcase in an unnecessary spurt.

“We’re not going to meet in the parking lot, dear … slow down,” I said, humored by her eagerness.

When we deplaned, Leonard, my longtime driver, immediately greeted us. He had barged his way through the nine bureaucratic stations that demanded everything from flight data, licenses, fees, and manifests to passports and his mother’s maiden name for clearance—with a badge and an old .45 caliber automatic. He had what I wanted and I had what he wanted. My relationship with Leonard was a long and uneventful partnership that had minimized my concerns through the dark narrow corridors of Port of Spain. All lean six-foot-two of him was cordial and combat-ready. He was a policeman and a fireman, though I never knew which I would need or when. Leonard knew the city and the bookmakers and had handicapped our customers down to their childhood.

Leonard momentarily froze in place when he saw Rebecca. His concern needed no explanation. We both knew where we were going.

“No Aaron this time?” he asked.

He had provided a good point man for Aaron and the occasional guests who came along to experience Trinidad’s noisy dance halls and frivolity of the nightlife, long after my day on the island would come to an end.

The introduction between Leonard and Rebecca was brief. I raised the boot door of the airplane, retrieved the bags, and Leonard spotted the transmission parts I’d flown in for his old green Datsun. We had almost rebuilt the damned thing over the years. Auto parts were not easily available in Trinidad, and they provided good barter for our partnership. Leonard clamped the pieces under his right arm. His left arm and shoulder blade had been shattered in a gunfight years ago and had limited movement. Still, he was strong and agile. He was right-handed, and he often joked that his aim was not impaired.

The three of us headed right to our meeting, which took place in a local restaurant that looked like a ramshackle building from the outside. The awning over the entry was torn, and the sign was half missing. The chef prepared an assortment of East Indian cuisine, common for the area and none of which smelled good to me. The floors were worn wooden planks that looked as if they had been there for forty years. The ceiling fans swirling above kept the dirt and dust circulating so you could see it in the beams of light that shone through the paned windows. Despite the presence of these fans, the air was thick, hot, and still. It matched the climate, which, to me, was disgusting.

Rebecca and I made our way into a back room where the rest of the betting proprietors had already gathered. Several of the men were smoking thick Cuban cigars. There was no embargo on them in Trinidad like there was in the United States. The room was full of silvery-blue smoke that filled my lungs and made it hard to breathe. Rebecca stood out in the room like an ice cream cone in the middle of a desert. She was young, blonde, and dressed in American attire—jeans and a soft, flowing top. Rebecca doesn’t like to dress down, but it was important that she not show up looking too feminine.

I knew everyone in the room, except for the sole woman. She wasn’t a Trinny, as I called the locals; she was African and new to the game. The assembled group represented every walk of life on the island. Some were dressed in shorts, T-shirts, and sandals, while others wore clothing that represented their culture—whether African or Asian, as both cultures were predominant.

There were a lot of Chinese people throughout the islands who were very strong business leaders. One of the largest players in Trinidad was a Chinese man named Phang. His older brother, a British bookmaker, had actually pioneered the method of sending telegraphed results and payoff prices for British racing to Trinidad. Phang didn’t join in on the meeting that day because he didn’t think he should mingle with that crew. There was a lot of animosity, and he knew their gripes. Phang ran a much bigger operation than those gathered together that day, so we had worked out a pretty substantial deal with him that we could justify separating from the others.

When I walked into the room, I made a point to say I didn’t want to see any weapons. I was concerned because my daughter was with me. Even so, the atmosphere was charged. You could cut the tension with a knife—an appropriate analogy, since one of the men at the table had an intimidating ten-inch blade prominently displayed next to him. It wasn’t a dagger, but a butcher’s knife. The blade was tapered and had serrated edges that could, no doubt, make a nasty cut if necessary.

At the start of the meeting, everyone was civil, shaking hands and making introductions. Some were even drinking whiskey, but I wasn’t falling for the niceties. They had a lot of talking to do, and we were there to listen. And then, there was great shock and surprise when I introduced the young woman I was with as Rebecca. Many simply couldn’t believe the petite girl with me was the same Rebecca they had been dealing with over the phone for several years. Until that moment, she was the intolerable, larger-than-life ogre always demanding payment or shutting down signals by controlling the decoder boxes from the uplink source in the United States. Although Rebecca’s presence heightened the tension even more, there was an unusual and unexpected amount of respect being shown.

We each took a seat around the circular wooden table. It was like a Mafia family meeting—only worse because this was tribal. The Trinnys liked to talk—often and fast. They were sometimes difficult to understand, but it was obvious they knew the ropes and the politics. Most of them didn’t steal from their competitor, but they certainly understood how to undermine him and his business to advance their own. It was clear from the moment we entered the room they had all compared notes about who was paying what price for the same service. We didn’t necessarily disclose that information on a regular basis, so if anyone knew what his or her neighbors were paying, the information didn’t come from us.

Anxious to get to down to business, Rebecca and I started the meeting by asking for the money we were owed. She had records of each account and would be the one to clear the debt. They each had brought their currency in suitcases, pouches, and even brown paper bags. Some wanted to pay in private so nobody could see how much they were handing over, while others didn’t really care. Rebecca took each parcel to the ladies’ room, a roughly built addition with a loosely fitting yellow door and a wooden bobbin for a lock. It was the safest place for her to do the counting, and as things began to get heated around the table, I was glad that she was out of the room. If someone was short, she’d let me know. Otherwise, I was there to answer whatever questions they had, get our money, and head out.

Two hours had come and gone and many thousands of dollars were exchanged before tempers really began to flare, fueled in part by beer and island drinks of all sorts. I had made frequent trips to Trinidad in the past, but I would usually go to the shops separately to collect. I’d listen to their gripes about spotty service or unfair pricing along the way, but I never had any issues or concerns for my safety during those chats. This time, however, there was one particular fellow who was outspoken and vociferous in his demands. He was in his late fifties and was normally a pleasant man to deal with, but this time was different. I suppose being in a room with all of his competitors raised his blood pressure past the point of reason. He was fighting with everyone over pricing, government intervention, and poaching of clients. He was shouting and hollering, evoking an instant and similar response from the others. It was getting contentious and uncomfortable—two things I never liked dealing with when collecting. When the atmosphere became too much, the oldest member of the group, the same man who had put his knife on the table, tried to bring order to the room.

“Quiet! Settle down! Let’s get to the point.” He was speaking loudly but not loudly enough to be heard over the others, who were now shouting at one another across the table. It was incomprehensible babble to me. There was zero chance I would be effective in calming the group. Since there were several leaders in the room, each wanted to flex his power.

“STOP! OR I WILL GIVE YOU ‘TUNDER!’” The elder’s voice suddenly came to a crescendo as he slammed his hand down flat on the table.

Seizing the opportunity, one of the others grabbed the elder’s knife and plunged it through the top of his hand and into the wooden tabletop. The elder’s palm was stuck there as blood began to slowly ooze from his gaping wound like the beginning of an erupting volcano.

“Rebecca, take the bags and get out of here,” I said in a whisper. She had shoved the assortment of paper bags and money into a larger plastic grocery bag to make it easier for her to carry into the ladies’ room.

The fellow who swung the knife was swift and fierce looking. By his expertise, I calculated it wasn’t his first scrape. He was still angry, which made me concerned about his next move. I wasn’t sure if he would take another swing at the elder or someone else, and, frankly, I didn’t want to stay around long enough to find out. Thankfully, he didn’t act again, and we were able to get things under control. When everyone was calm, the elder man pried the knife from the table, then his hand, and wrapped it in a white button-down shirt someone gave him to use as a tourniquet. He spewed a few obscenities at the guy who attacked him, but no one was making a move to call the cops. It was business as usual down there, so when everyone was settled, we went on with our meeting. There were no apologies, but, oddly, the stabbing did have a calming effect.

At that point, I told everyone I would visit with them in their territories and give them the credence and respect they required one-on-one. Assembling like that was a disastrous clashing of egos. There was a lot of posturing and vying for attention and authority. I vowed this type of meeting would never happen again.

When I felt it was safe to leave, I stood up, knocked on the ladies’ room door, and told Rebecca to come out.

“Get your stuff and head toward the door,” I said. There was no reason for long good-byes or any pleasantries.

We had a considerable amount of TT as well as U.S. dollars with us, which made the plastic bags bulky and awkward to carry. In the past, there were trips where we collected as much as $200,000 that had to be divided up between briefcases and paper bags. I don’t remember the exact amount of cash we collected that day, but it had to be up there in value based on its weight.

Normally Rebecca is like steel, but I will admit she was a little flustered from the drama that had unfolded.

“Holy shit! Are we going to be okay?” she asked in an unusually shaky voice.

“Yes. Let’s allow things to calm down a bit before we reengage with anyone.” I was doing my best to reassure her as we made our way to the green Datsun, with Leonard at the wheel, gun and all, and then onto the comfort of the hotel.

We were staying at the “upside-down” Hilton, as the locals called it. It’s the only hotel in the world I know where the floor number gets higher as the elevator goes down. The hotel is built into the side of a cliff. The lobby is at the top of the cliff, and the penthouse suite is at the bottom. We frequently used the upside-down Hilton as our home base when we were conducting our business in Trinidad. It lent to our meetings a semblance of order and protection and managed to keep most of them from becoming too heated. And there were many times I expected the meetings to go that way. I certainly didn’t foresee the outcome of the roundtable meeting earlier that day. If I had, I would never have put Rebecca in that room. In the end, nothing regrettable happened, but, as a father, I didn’t want to ever risk the safety of my children again. There was no amount of money that would allow me to consciously do that. In fact, I took extreme precaution to avoid conflicts wherever I went with them.

When we traveled to other countries, there were always a handful of locals who knew we were there to collect lots of cash. That made us sitting ducks. Despite the inherent danger of being robbed, kidnapped, or worse—killed—I rarely felt threatened. In fact, most of the time, the people I dealt with were rather gentlemanly during our exchanges. Even so, there were times I had to take stock of the realities of my surroundings, especially when I was in Jamaica or Trinidad. Those were the only two countries where I hired a bodyguard for extra security—usually a police officer or firefighter, but always someone who could handle a weapon and who knew his way around—especially if we needed to make a quick or unexpected exit. They always knew why I was there and would shoot to kill if the circumstances called for it.

Later that night, I got to thinking about the elder man and his threat of “Tunder.” I knew what he meant, but for me, the word conjured up the image of thunderous hooves racing around the dirt tracks I’d been around most of my life. Thoroughbred racing runs through me like the blood in my veins. It is the air in my lungs and the fuel that feeds me. There’s nothing like being at a track as the sun rises on a crisp, cool morning and watching the horses work out. I especially like walking “hots.” Hots are horses that need to be cooled down after they work out and before they are put back into the stall. There is a hush that surrounds the oval track. A quiet that muffles all sound but the horse’s breath and the thump-thump of their hooves as they gallop past you at speeds that seem impossible to fathom from the ground on which you stand. It never gets old for me. I can’t imagine any place on earth where I feel happier or more at home. I’ve been a hot walker, a groom, a jockey, a trainer, and an owner. I was the breeder of stakes horses and a racing official at two of the largest racing companies in the world: The New York Racing Association and what was once the Ontario Jockey Club. I played a part in changing the way people enjoyed the sport through the introduction of international simulcast racing. As a result of that unparalleled breakthrough in the sport of kings, international wagering on American Thoroughbred racing became a very lucrative business for me and the many others who followed my lead.

I looked at the bags of money in my hotel room that night and thought about the events of the day as well as all the other pivotal moments in my life that led me on the unforgettable journey I was on. I suppose there are many ways to die—and I’ve been exposed to more than most. Although it was close, this day would not be one of them.
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CHAPTER ONE
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Like a lot of people in the 1930s, my mother and father were victims of the Great Depression. Though we lived in Canada, the impact of the economic destruction that took place in America was rippling throughout the world. The depression originated in the United States, after the fall in stock prices that began around September 4, 1929, and became worldwide news with the stock market crash of October 29, 1929, known as Black Tuesday.

The Great Depression had devastating effects in countries rich and poor. Personal income, tax revenue, profits, and prices dropped, while international trade plummeted. Unemployment in the U.S. rose to 25 percent and in some countries climbed as high as 33 percent. After the United States, Canada was hit the hardest, with other countries around the world—especially those dependent on heavy industry—being impacted, too. Harshly affected by both the global economic downturn and the Dust Bowl, Canadian industrial production had fallen to 58 percent by 1932, the second lowest level in the world after the United States and well behind nations such as Great Britain.

Some economies started to recover by the mid-1930s, but, in many countries, the negative effects of the Great Depression lasted until the end of World War II. Canada’s recovery, in particular, lagged far behind its neighbor to the south, especially in terms of development, but not so far as in the lack of job opportunities and industry. My family lived in the east end of Toronto, in a place called East York. Most of the families in our neighborhood were Scottish and Irish, though there would be an influx of Italians that eventually settled there, too. All of us were struggling to make ends meet.

My father came from a very rough family life. His father was an alcoholic who died long before I was born in August of 1936. My grandmother remarried an English postman, who was at one time in his life a great and notable professional soccer player, though he never quite achieved the fame he deserved. He had one arm, having lost the other in an explosion during combat in the Boer War in South Africa.

My father’s family was made up of committed racetrackers, including his two brothers, who were involved in the business all of their lives. His brother Wilfred was a successful Canadian jockey and a fifty-year racing official. Charles was also a longtime racing official, so naturally my father was lured to the track at a young age, too. He galloped horses and even rode as a jockey in a couple of races, but in time he grew too heavy and wasn’t a good enough jockey to enjoy any real success. When he couldn’t make it as a jockey or as a trainer, he did the next best thing—he galloped horses for the prominent American stable J. K. L. Ross. Although my dad tried to be a trainer, that wasn’t his calling either. By the time he was twenty-two, he had a stable of horses that he was training at St. John’s Park, in Jacksonville, Florida. St. John’s Park was a lesser-known racetrack, so the horses there weren’t big-money winners. This meant he didn’t earn very much for his efforts. Due to the financial strain, he went to Cuba to train horses at Oriental Park. When he arrived, he was so broke that he resorted to retrieving coins from the tourists off of the Havana docks.

My great-grandfather, Charles Stevenson, worked on the Northwestern railway around the time George Stephenson (no relation) built the first train steam engine in 1814. By 1830, when the Liverpool-Manchester public railway opened, my great-grandfather had worked his way up to become the superintendent of the Northwestern railroad. While his position doesn’t sound grand by today’s standards, at the time, he was considered to be a high-ranking member of society who mingled with the British royal family. My mother’s father came to Canada from Newcastle just as her mother, Mary, came from Cumberland in the high country near Manchester, England, in search of a better life.

I never understood the reasons my mother’s family—the Ridgways—left England, but they did. The Ridgways were a rather industrious group. My maternal grandfather loved horse racing so much that he became an owner of many fine Thoroughbreds. And two of his sons became successful jockeys. John “Babs” and his older brother, Alex “Speck,” Ridgway were both well known in Canadian and Californian racing circles. Alex was called Speck because he had a lot of freckles. Speck was extremely successful as a jockey, having ridden and won on a horse called Marine, son of the legendary Thoroughbred, Man o’ War. My grandparents were extremely proud of Speck and his career, keeping all of his racing memorabilia on display at their home for everyone to admire.

The family called John “Babs” because he was the youngest son. He went to California as a young man, first galloping horses, then subsequently becoming a jockey. Babs also grew too heavy to continue as a jockey and sadly had to stop riding within a few years.

Unable to make a living in Cuba, my father returned to Toronto in the mid-1930s. His days of training horses were long behind him, but he still had a passion for being around racing. As a result, he gravitated toward working in the jockeys’ room. As luck would have it, his first job was as a valet for the young, successful Speck Ridgway. The position of jockey valet is similar in many ways to a groom. They are there to aid and assist in every aspect of preparing both the horse and the jockey for a race. A valet cleans and prepares saddles and polishes boots. The term “valet” dates back to 1567, though its use in the medieval French-speaking English court is older. Its variant form “varlet” is cited as far back as 1456. It was used as another word for male servants who were personal attendants to their employers, responsible for the care and upkeep of clothes and other personal belongings.

My father met my mother through his newfound friendship with Speck. My mother was a very beautiful woman who had always dreamt of becoming a dancer. Her dreams, as it turned out, were delayed because of their blossoming relationship.

At the height of his career, Speck was critically injured in a motorcycle accident in Toronto. A woman driving the wrong way on a road in Sunnyside, over in the west end of Toronto, hit him head-on. He was badly injured and rushed to a nearby hospital, where he died a few days later. I never had the chance to know my uncle because he passed away before I was born. I am told we looked a lot alike as kids. My grandmother never got over losing her son. She grieved for Speck until the day she died in 1955.

My parents married in 1935, which were tough times for most everyone. Their relationship was challenged from the start. Since they couldn’t afford their own home, my uncle Percy, a carpenter by trade who was considered to be quite successful, offered them a place to live. It was a small home on First Avenue in Todmorden Mills, a settlement located in the Don River valley in Toronto, Ontario. Originally known as “Don Mills,” it began as a lumberyard in the 1790s and grew into a small industrial complex and village before becoming part of East York in the twentieth century. The house was down the street from where my mother’s aunt and uncle lived and from the home where I was born. I don’t think my birth was expected, and, as a result, I became the cause of a lot of their early marital problems. Some people were pleased to have me around, but my father wasn’t one of them. Even though I was young, I was fully aware that he didn’t like me. But, at the time, I had no idea why.

I always thought, “You can’t go wrong being born on First Avenue.” I can still remember the light fixture that hung above my crib. It was very old-fashioned and had a shade hanging from the bottom. It looked like something my uncle might have bought at the local five-and-dime store.

Despite their financial woes, my mother somehow managed to look beautiful on a very small budget. She was good at making the best of what little she had and what little my father was able to provide for her. Even before I could talk, I always knew when my parents were headed out for the night because I could smell her perfume. The one night each year I loathed was New Year’s Eve, because my father would always come home drunk and in a very bad mood. One year, I was sick with the flu and had thrown up all over my room. I’d made a terrible mess. When my parents returned, my father took one look at what I’d done and punished me. Even though I was just a small child. As I grew a little older, I subconsciously connected the smell of mom’s perfume with my father’s inevitable and incomprehensible punishments.

My parents didn’t have any money to speak of, which was hard on my dad, who was a proud man. At the time, racing in Canada was a summer sport, so in the winter months, there was no way for him to make a decent living. To earn money, he went door-to-door selling pencils and eggs. While there was no obvious correlation between his products, they were the only two to which he had access in their dire situation. It was a humbling experience, one that proved to feed his ever-growing anger. Because we were unable to shop for groceries in the lean years, the only food we ate when I was young came from my grandparents’ small farm on Cosburn Avenue. Whether it was a chicken, a rabbit, or one of my grandfather’s pigeons that he raised and raced, we at least had something to eat.

Although my father was naturally smart, he had no formal education and often felt like a failure. He was devastated by the Depression and the direction his life had taken him. Although he was a hard worker, he was a tough man to live with. His temper flared often and out of the blue. Sundays were especially bad in our household. My mom liked to cook breakfast for us on those mornings. Instead of the usual oatmeal, she cooked bacon and eggs as a treat. Out of anger and usually as a result of an argument over money, it wasn’t unusual for my dad to take his plate and dump the leftover eggs over my mother’s head. One time, he grabbed the toaster while it was still in use, snatching it from the wall, and threw it down the stairs, smashing it on the cement floor. When he realized it hadn’t shattered, he got an ax from the garage and sliced the toaster in half. It was an act of rage I’ve never forgotten. Maybe his fury was the result of being a little hungover from Saturday night, or maybe it was his way of dealing with the mounting bills and problems he faced. Whatever the reason, I hated being at home on Sundays and relished the thought of someday leaving so I wouldn’t have to live in fear of something worse happening. After the untimely death of our toaster, I began planning my departure for good.

Despite his erratic behavior, my father also had a jocular side to him that would periodically pull him out of his dark moods, especially when he was around people outside of our family. To them, he was a likeable and engaging man. He spoke with ease and comfort, something I never saw him do at home.

No one in my family was especially known for their communication skills. We were not what you’d call a “talky” family. It wasn’t unusual to go an entire day without hearing much more than a “how are you?” I didn’t know any different, so the occasional grunt or comment seemed normal to me. The only time anyone really spoke to me was when a meal was served that I refused to eat. Then, they would talk a blue streak. I hated tapioca pudding and always resented when my grandmother or mother made it. They insisted that I eat it until I learned to enjoy it even though they knew I didn’t like it. In my mind, that would never happen. Looking back, I suppose their insistence was a reflection of all the lean years they had when food was scarce in their homes. Once they could provide food adequately, it was expected that I eat it. Reluctantly, I did. But I never liked it. Never.

Around the time I was three or four years old, my mother’s parents came across a vacant plot of land next to their property. They offered to finance and subsidize the building of a home for my parents to live in so we could get out of the house on Cosburn Avenue. I suppose they didn’t want their daughter living too far away from them with my father, the racetracker who couldn’t rub two nickels together. My father tried to get a loan on his own but was turned down flat. I remember the day he came back from the bank—irate and cussing. Things got very tense between my parents, eventually causing my mother to have a nervous breakdown. Without realizing it, she had found herself in a marriage to a man who was extremely difficult and unable to provide for her. She had a child and was living in dire poverty. English people are very proud and don’t like being reliant on someone else. Desperate and depressed, my mother moved in with her mother for a year to deal with her condition. I was allowed to see her, but only on a limited basis.

“Carry this up to your mother,” my grandmother would say as she handed me a single fried egg on a plate. I dutifully went up the steep stairway that led to her bedroom to do this simple task. When I’d enter the room, my mother would break down crying. She was so distraught that I would turn around and run back down the stairs, still holding the plate in my trembling hands. I was desperate for affection and attention. I didn’t want to let my grandmother down, but I also didn’t know how to handle my mother’s emotional response at the very sight of me. I couldn’t understand why my presence would have this effect on her. Eventually, I learned to find affection from someone else other than my mother and father, mostly in spending time with my grandparents next door.

I spent more time with my grandmother than anyone else. She often babysat for me, which meant putting me on the front lawn of their house under their cherry tree with a stake and a rope attached to a harness around my chest so I could walk from side to side without her fearing that I would run away. I spent a lot of time with the two goats that grazed on the lush grass under that old cherry tree. As a baby, I only drank fresh goat milk because my grandmother believed it was better for me than cow’s milk.

“It’s TB free and doesn’t carry the same germs,” she declared with great authority. Surely it was also a sign of the times. They bottled the milk daily and put it in their icebox to keep it cool.

My grandmother was loving, but not especially warm. She and my grandfather were under great financial stress, too, which caused them to argue more and more as the Depression wore on.

My grandfather had many basic skills, and, because of that, he held many jobs over the years. He was an odd man but great to me when I was a little boy. My father didn’t like him all that much because my grandfather was extremely authoritarian. He wasn’t thrilled with his daughter being married to someone who couldn’t support his own family. My grandfather worked as a chauffeur for a short time, then for the military as a night watchman, guarding the local Armory. He also raised pigeons that he raced to make extra money. Since he worked at the Armory most evenings, he would take his pigeons to work and liberate them from different distances. He trained them well and won a lot of races. Years ago, he won the young bird derby, a contest that began with the liberation of the pigeons by the King of Spain for their flight to Cheadle Hume in England. He had claimed a grand trophy to commemorate the victory. I’d tag along as often as he’d let me, riding in the rumble seat of his old Chevy with the pigeons in a box by my side.

As part of our training process, we drove to many towns in and around Ontario, where we’d liberate the pigeons and hurry home to prepare this old wooden box with a clock on the front. When each bird returned home, it was retrieved from the coop and its food was placed in a small compartment within the box. There, my grandfather had a mechanism that placed a pink rubber band around the bird’s ankle. The band carried the time and date of each bird’s arrival. The data were sent into a centrally located office, where the first ten winners were announced. The liberation of the birds was exhilarating, both for the old man and the young boy. It was a scene that generated ancient stories that were always recounted in the car on the way home. My grandfather talked of carrier pigeons that were used to convey military intelligence messages between England and France during the blitz in England. I listened to these fascinating stories for hours. I even wet my pants a few times in our haste to get back to the coop, where we’d wait or discover our first birds were already home. I was so excited, I didn’t want to stop to use the bathroom. It was far better than the trivia forced upon me in a schoolroom. It was the only bond he and I ever knew.

By the early 1940s, Canada was deeply involved in World War II. Frustrated by the loss of his career as a jockey, Uncle Babs joined the United States Army so he could gain his American citizenship. He fought in World War II with General Patton’s 7th Army and was stationed in Africa for five years until he was critically wounded. I remember seeing his medals; however, I never knew if he had been shot or injured by some type of explosion.

Although there had been no bombings in our country, the government frequently prepared us for an attack. There were air raid wardens in every community who would dictate the nights when there would be intentional blackouts all around Toronto. The entire city went dark for several hours so the enemy couldn’t see where to bomb. Britain was lost, and Churchill was on the radio nearly every night pleading with Hitler and Mussolini to leave Canada alone. He wasn’t doing as well as he had hoped. When the city was dark, my grandmother, who was still caring for me while my mother was recuperating from her breakdown, used to take me by the hand and we’d go for walks together. Outside, we looked up at the bright twinkling stars in the sky while air raid sirens blared in the background. It was eerie and strangely beautiful at the same time, especially knowing that Babs was overseas somewhere fighting the Germans. The only time I recall seeing the stars shine bright over my house was during those blackouts. Otherwise, the city lights made the night sky appear dim.

Living in Toronto during the war took its toll on everyone. If you owned a car, gas was rationed, so it was hard to come by. You had to present gas ration stamps to the service station attendants to get fuel. Tires were impossible to find. And the economy suffered in every way.

Howe’s was a family-run convenience store on the same street where we lived in East York; it was the pulse of the neighborhood. Here, the list of soldiers who were missing or killed in action was hung for all to see. Everyone in the neighborhood went there on a daily basis to see whether their son’s name was on the list. My grandmother held her breath every time she ran her finger down the long list of names, hoping and praying her son Babs wouldn’t be on it.

I had never met my Uncle Babs until he returned to Toronto after the war. I was around five years old when I first laid eyes on him. To me, he was a hero. But when he returned, he had a lot of problems dealing with what we would now refer to as posttraumatic stress, though there was no such name for his condition at the time. Uncle Babs had been shot many times, and though the Army gave him several Medals of Honor for his service, he didn’t ever want to see them. They were painful reminders of the horror and agony he had endured during the war.

When he finally started to heal, Uncle Babs returned to California and to horse racing, but this time, training Thoroughbreds. A few years later, he started a feed company for the horse racing industry near Bay Meadows racetrack in San Francisco and turned it into a successful business he could focus on for many years to come. I didn’t see much of Babs after he left. He died in 1964 of a heart attack.

By the time I was slated to start school, I had begun running away from home for days at a time. There were no school buses, so I had to walk about a mile and a half each way. In those days, parents dressed their kids and pushed them out the door expecting that they’d head right to school—no one led you there—and there were other kids to follow, so it was just expected that I’d go along with the plan. It didn’t take me long to figure out that I could skip school. Instead of attending class, I spent my days collecting sticks to make little boats that I could float down the streets in the water-filled ditches. My imagination was always bigger than I, and I loved being outdoors.

By the time I was six, I had made a few good friends, including a boy named Pinky Ward. I think his given name was Leonard, but he didn’t like it when I called him by his real name, so I didn’t. Pinky was a little bigger than I and lived just up the street from us. He loved playing hooky and going to the Don Valley, a forest-like park near our neighborhood in the center of Toronto. We went into the chasm and valley, where we discovered that a train came through every day. When that train came rolling by, we ran along the side of it, grabbed onto one of the sidecars, and went for a hell of a ride. Pinky and I could stay out all day and night without anyone knowing where we had been or what we were doing.

We also spent time at a little fishing hole that was on a nearby farmer’s property. We would take off all of our clothes and jump into the murky water. It was cold, but the joy of being in that pond was always worth the shock to my body. Afterward, Pinky and I would pull out a pipe and some tobacco I’d swiped from my dad and have a smoke. One day, three shots rang out. The bullets hit the water a few feet away from where we sat. We grabbed our clothes and ran as fast as we could for the railroad tracks. Unfortunately, we were in such a hurry that we left the pipe and tobacco behind. Up until then, every time I lit that pipe I’d think about how I would return it to my father’s drawer without him ever knowing it had gone missing. Pinky and I never returned to that spot, for fear of being shot, and I never did retrieve that pipe. As strict as my father was, he wasn’t a constant pipe smoker. He had a collection of pipes and didn’t use them often enough to notice the one I had taken was missing. I anxiously awaited to be disciplined for what I had done, but somehow that day never came.

Throughout my early school days, my mother never met one of my teachers or ever set foot in my school. As long as we were home by the time the streetlights came on at night, our secrets were safe. It wasn’t until I got into a fight with a bigger kid who had kneed me in the balls while we were playing soccer one day that my parents found out I hadn’t been going to school. I’d gotten the strap from Mr. Shatz, the principal. Until that incident, I didn’t know you could be beaten at home and at school. My father had given me the belt across my ass many times. It’s how he disciplined me, so I expected it from him. I didn’t see it coming from Mr. Shatz, though. Afterward, he sent a note home to my parents that divulged I had barely been showing up to school.

In an effort to find something constructive I could do in my spare time, my grandmother Ridgway arranged for me to take piano lessons. I’d heard many stories over the years about how my grandfather had been a drunken piano player, and she thought there might be some musical talent in my genes, too. I found out then that genes meant other things besides pants you wear. I hated learning the piano. In my mind, all practicing that instrument did was cut into my outside time. It made me crazy to sit with my teacher, an elderly woman who smelled of tuberose and hairspray, a combination I found only slightly less than revolting. She was slender and wore glasses. Although she was nice enough, I thought there was something wrong with her. Whenever she came out of the bathroom, it smelled like she was slowly rotting from the inside. There were not a lot of redeeming qualities about her except for her ability to teach classical music. She was strict and had a propensity to whack my hands with the yellow pencil she held, swinging it to the beat, keeping the rhythm like a metronome. If I hit the wrong note, she would come down hard on my hands. It doesn’t seem like a thin pencil across the knuckles would hurt, but it did—a lot. By the time I performed in my first recital, however, I could play parts of Tchaikovsky’s Concerto No. 1, though not well. She also taught me to appreciate symphony orchestras and the musical genius of Mozart and Chopin.
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